# MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE North Central London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee HELD ON Monday, 11th September 2023, 10.00 am - 12.30 pm

# PRESENT:

Councillors: Pippa Connor (Chair), Tricia Clarke (Vice-Chair), Larraine Revah (Vice-Chair), Kemi Atolagbe, Rishikesh Chakraborty, Jilani Chowdhury, Philip Cohen, Chris James and Andy Milne.

#### 15. FILMING AT MEETINGS

The Chair referred Members present to agenda Item 1 as shown on the agenda in respect of filming at this meeting, and Members noted the information contained therein'.

#### 16. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Matt White (Haringey).

#### 17. ELECTION OF CHAIR

Councillor Pippa Connor was nominated as the Chair of the Committee. There were no other nominations.

RESOLVED – That Councillor Pippa Connor be elected as Chair of the North Central London Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee for the municipal year 2023-24.

#### 18. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIRS

Councillors Tricia Clarke and Larraine Revah were nominated as the Vice-Chairs of the Committee. There were no other nominations.

RESOLVED – That Councillors Tricia Clarke and Larraine Revah be elected as Vice-Chairs of the North Central London Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee for the municipal year 2023-24.

# 19. URGENT BUSINESS

None.

# 20. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None.



# 21. DEPUTATIONS / PETITIONS / PRESENTATIONS / QUESTIONS

None.

#### 22. MINUTES

The minutes of the previous four meetings of the North Central London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee were approved.

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the JHOSC meetings held on 20<sup>th</sup> March 2023, 6<sup>th</sup> June 2023, 7<sup>th</sup> June 2023 and 26<sup>th</sup> June 2023 be approved as an accurate record.

#### 23. NCL ICS FINANCIAL REVIEW

The report for this item was introduced by Gary Sired, Director of System Financial Planning at NCL ICB, Chris Garner, Assistant Director of Transformation and Community Commissioning at NCL ICB and Anthony Browne, Director of Finance for Strategic Commissioning at NCL ICB.

Referring to the financial position in the previous year, Gary Sired explained that there had been concerns about the risks in the 2022/23 financial plan for the Integrated Care System (ICS) as a whole, including the ten ICS providers. The plan was successfully delivered with a balanced budget, though partly through some non-recurrent technical benefits and, as these were one-off measures, the underlying challenges remained in developing the financial plan for 2023/24. This meant that additional actions were required for providers, such as the stretching of efficiency targets for example. There was currently some in-year adverse variance in the financial plan and the main cause for this was the ongoing industrial action which resulted in a net cost.

Gary Sired, Chris Garner and Anthony Browne then responded to questions from the Committee:

- In response to questions from Cllr Clarke and Cllr Milne about the net financial cost of the industrial action, Gary Sired explained that consultants were hired during these periods to ensure continuity of services and that the cost of doing so outweighed the savings from unpaid wages to staff resulting in significant adverse variance in the budget. In addition, there was an adverse impact on elective work which also had a negative financial impact. Finally, there was a negative knock-on effect to delivering planned efficiency savings.
- Cllr Clarke asked about efforts to stop the strikes and Cllr Chakraborty asked about the
  potential impact of permanent staff such as junior doctors and consultancy staff
  striking at the same time. Chris Caldwell, Chief Nursing Officer, said that there were
  significant ongoing lobbying efforts across the sector to the Government as this was
  having a significant impact on patients and staff. She added that the upcoming strike
  action by permanent/agency staff would lead to a period of activity over two weeks and
  that some surgery would be cancelled because of the risk of not being able to provide
  intensive support afterwards. There were also now significant restrictions on the use of
  additional resources to hire agency staff.
- Cllr Connor asked whether consideration had been given to the provision of additional resources outside of the planned budget, given the ongoing financial difficulties

- caused by the industrial action. Gary Sired explained that the Trusts were paid according to the activity carried out and that the targets had been reduced in April to take into account the impact of the industrial action and so this provided some financial relief. There would need to be further discussions about financial relief given the ongoing situation with the strikes.
- Asked by Cllr Clarke and Cllr Cohen for further details about the expected 30% budget reduction for the NCL ICB, Anthony Browne explained that the aim of this was to reduce management costs and so the ICB was currently redesigning structures to achieve these savings. Partial savings (20%) was scheduled for the next financial year and the full amount (30%) by the following year.
- Cllr Cohen welcomed the additional investment in adult community services, as set out on page 54 of the agenda pack, and requested further details about the part that related to intermediate community-based bedded care for up to 6 weeks to avoid hospital admission or to support rehabilitation after discharge. Chris Garner confirmed that this was a priority for community services and that £260k had been invested into intermediate community based bedded care this year. There was also a discharge fund to support care beds across NCL £1.6m for P1 (pathway 1 for hospital discharge) and £1.3m for integrated discharge teams. A key objective was to reduce the need for hospital beds and modelling had estimated that the additional investment this year would avoid a total of 1,600 hospital days which was important both for people's health and for the sustainability of the system. He added that the ICB was working closely with NCL local authorities to develop a standardised, optimised model for P2 (pathway 2 for hospital discharge). Another area of investment was the expansion of community nursing support, including therapists, to support people to stay well in their own homes.
- Asked by Cllr Revah about support after hospital discharge for people with disabilities
  who also have mental health conditions, Chris Garner said that a written response on
  this could be provided to the Committee. (ACTION) Cllr Revah suggested that future
  financial reports should specifically address the impact on people with disabilities as
  this was an area that could sometimes be overlooked. (ACTION)
- Asked by Cllr Revah about the relocation of services from Moorfields Eye Hospital,
   Anthony Browne commented that the costs would continue to be met by the Trust but
   that the ICB was in the process of reviewing the ophthalmology pathway to ensure that
   it was fit for purpose. Cllr Revah proposed that the Committee should monitor this
   issue by including it in the JHOSC work programme. (ACTION)
- With regards to the mental health investment outlined on page 53 of the agenda pack, Cllr Chakraborty asked what learning there had been from the CYP Home Treatment Team in Barnet and how any subsequent roll out to the other NCL boroughs would be financed. Chris Garner said that the scheme would not be rolled out across NCL in the current financial year but that there was a framework with agreed criteria to prioritise investment and so this would be used to assess potential future financing in this area. He added that the pilot had been successful and that the learning had included the need to ensure high occupancy rates in virtual ward services by working with acute clinicians. Cllr Connor requested that the Committee be kept updated on the conclusions reached from the pilot and the financing and timescales for a potential future roll out of this service. (ACTION)
- Asked by Cllr Atolagbe about the additional recurrent funding for mental health services, as set out on page 53 of the agenda pack, Anthony Browne explained that the recent uplift for mental health services against the previous year had been around 7% for the NCL area, some of which was required to meet increased costs, with other

- specific areas of investment as set out in the report. Chris Garner added that a particular priority was to intervene early in order to prevent more acute problems from developing which could result in more complex care needs or expensive out-of-area placements.
- Cllr Atolagbe requested further clarification on the text on page 47 of the agenda pack which stated that "NHS organisations cannot carry forward expenditure reserves from one year to another" and the £89m surplus in the NCL ICS system in 2021/22. Gary Sired explained that NHS organisations cannot plan to have a deficit by using surpluses from previous years and that, while surpluses were not planned, there had been a particular issue in 2021/22 where not all of the money had been spent and so this stayed on the balance sheet. He acknowledged that there was an issue nationally with unused cash balances and that there was an ongoing debate about this.
- Cllr Connor noted that page 47 of the agenda pack also stated that "NCL ICB will inherit the cumulative NCL CCG historical deficit and will have an obligation to repay it unless the ICB and the system are in balance for the first two years" and asked how these deficits would be addressed, including that of the Royal Free NHS Trust which had been in deficit for some years. Gary Sired said that the historic deficit was just over £100m and that this had been successfully balanced in the first year although there were ongoing risks with the plan for the second year, including the impact of industrial action as previously discussed. In relation to the Royal Free, he noted that the ISC budget needed to be balanced as a whole system and so if one Trust was in deficit then other Trusts would need to be in surplus. It was therefore a priority to improve the Royal Free's financial position and there was an ongoing, active piece of work to achieve this. He was not currently aware of any measures that would lead to a reduction in services provided by the Trust. Anthony Browne added that achieving balance was a system-wide objective and that the savings required across the NCL Trusts were roughly in the same ballpark but that the Royal Free may receive more scrutiny from the regulator due to their financial position. Cllr Connor recommended that future financial reports should specifically set out whether there would be a direct impact on services resulting from deficits within the system. (ACTION) Cllr Revah requested that future financial reports should also include more detail on the reasons for the highest deficits, such as that of the Royal Free NHS Trust. Chris Caldwell noted that Royal Free NHS Trust had previously spoken to the Committee directly about finance issues and Cllr Connor suggested that this could be added to the work programme for future consideration. (ACTION)
- Cllr Connor asked about potential risks relating to existing capital projects, given ongoing issues with interest rates and building costs. Gary Sired explained that there were two main streams for capital funding national funding or the NCL capital funding limit of around £180m per year which was allocated to organisations at the start of the year. Due to the changing financial environment, there was now more likely to be slippage rather than overspend so efforts were made to support flexibility where possible, while some funding could be diverted to strategic capital needs such as digital. A deep dive on this would be carried out in month 6 to enable a forecast but they were currently expecting year end objectives to be met. Cllr Connor recommended that future financial reports should include details of risks and slippage/overspend associated with capital projects including any impact of revenue budgets (due to interest costs for example). (ACTION) Cllr Atolagbe and Cllr Connor also requested an update on the major St Pancras Hospital capital project. (ACTION)
- Asked by Cllr Cohen how the additional mental health funding would affect voluntary organisations in this sector which often found it difficult to obtain secure funding,

particularly because a lot of funding tended to be allocated on a short-term basis. Anthony Browne acknowledged that the voluntary sector was a significant part of the mental health offer and that they had been engaging with voluntary sector partners on investment and sustainability issues. He added that the ICB was engaged with a piece of work on the core mental health offer and examining the network of funding to ensure that the best possible outcomes were being achieved. Cllr Connor noted that the Committee was due to hold a meeting to discuss the mental health core offer in March 2024 which would involve voluntary sector representatives. It was agreed that information about funding issues, including the sustainability of funding for voluntary sector organisations, should be provided for this meeting. (ACTION)

• Cllr Clarke expressed concerns about the amount of money spent by the Trusts on agency staff and requested that figures on this be provided in future financial updates to the Committee. (ACTION)

# **RESOLVED – That further information be provided to the Committee on:**

- support after hospital discharge for people with disabilities who also have mental health conditions.
- conclusions for the pilot and timescales of the roll out for CYP Home Treatment
   Team project
- the St Pancras Hospital capital project.

# **RESOLVED – That the next finance update include details on:**

- the impact on people with disabilities.
- whether there was a direct impact on services resulting from deficits within the system.
- the reasons for the highest deficits within the system.
- risks and slippage/overspend associated with capital projects including any impact of revenue budgets (due to interest costs for example).
- figures on the amount spent on agency workers.

#### 24. CAMDEN ACUTE DAY UNIT UPDATE

Alice Langley, Managing Director - Camden Division, North London Mental Health Partnership (BEH-MHT and C&I Trust) and Debra Holt, Assistant Director for Integrated Commissioning Mental Health & Learning Disabilities, NCL ICB/London Borough of Camden, introduced the report on this item which related to the co-production of new mental health services in Camden borough. Alice Langley explained that this had been a collaboration between the mental health Trust and the local authority over the past nine months following recent progress on partnership working and integration. The engagement and co-design process had been completed and the focus was now on finalising the service and staffing model with residents involved in ongoing development and the monitoring of the service. She added that the service was an innovation based on research which demonstrated the positive impact of Acute Day Units (ADUs) on service users and their recovery. The provision of ADUs across the country was guite patchy and had historically been guite siloed and so the intention was to ensure that the Camden ADU was well integrated with other services. The new ADU service would initially only be operating in Camden, but there would be a formal evaluation process which could help to inform future service development elsewhere in NCL. Debra Holt explained that the six core areas of feedback were set out in the report, the service

specification was being finalised and that this referenced the feedback received so that it was clear how the feedback had been used to develop the service. It was agreed that the service specification would be circulated to the Committee. (ACTION)

Alice Langley and Debra Holt then responded to questions from the Committee:

- Asked by Cllr Revah about timescales and the locations of the services, Alice Langley said that the current aim was for the service to go live in April and that this was currently on track. She explained that there had been mixed feedback about the Greenwood Centre with some preferring services to be located in one place while others preferred a choice of locations across the borough. They were therefore currently looking at supplementing the Greenwood Centre with some other locations. However, it would be necessary to consider carefully what this would mean for individual service users in being able to access all of the right services for their needs.
- Asked by Cllr Revah about the length of the service provided to service users with acute needs, Alice Langley said that this had been a key theme of the engagement work. She noted that there were other existing services for service users with acute needs but it was felt that the ADU would address a gap between community and inpatient services by providing more intensive support outside of a hospital setting. Alice Langley clarified that existing day support services may support people for anything from 6 weeks to 1-2 years. There had been useful challenging conversations in the engagement process about how long services were available for, and the consensus was that there needed to be flexibility in the service, so that people could be supported for a length of time appropriate to their needs. It would be key to be able to easily link people into other services and support after an appropriate amount of time for their needs.
- In response to a query from Cllr Atolagbe about support for service users after the closure of the Camden ADU based at St Pancras Hospital in 2020, Alice Langley said that there had been a range of community and crisis services available but that this had led to the conclusion that there was a gap that could be address by the new services outlined in the report. Debra Holt added that the local community and voluntary sector had picked up a lot of the demand following the closure, but they were not particularly equipped to support people with acute needs. There were also two other mental health day services in the borough which had been supporting people who required longer-term interventions.
- Asked by Cllr Atolagbe about the feedback on the service name, languages and on the
  terminology used, Alice Langley confirmed that the views were being considered and
  that a new name for the service had not yet been determined. She acknowledged that
  there were also different views on terms such as 'recovery' so it was important to
  understand these sensitivities as well as the needs of people who did not speak
  English as a first language and so this feedback would be integrated into the service
  design.
- Cllr Connor asked whether the people who had been involved in the co-design
  process would still be involved in engagement work in the years to come. Alice
  Langley confirmed that commitments had been made to keep those residents informed
  and involved on an ongoing basis in order to support the continuous improvement of
  the service and that the details of this were currently being worked through.

- Asked by Cllr Connor about the financial sustainability of the new service, Alice
  Langley explained that the previous funding for the previous Camden ADU service
  was still included in the block contract along with funding from the local authority, so
  this brought existing resources together. However, it would be necessary for the
  evaluation to demonstrate impact to inform potential service development in other
  boroughs.
- Cllr Atolagbe requested further clarification on the reference in the report to a Single
  Point of Access and that this could be included in "a GP App where GPs find out what
  services are available". Alice Langley said that an issue that had come through clearly
  in the co-design process was awareness of and access to the service. GPs were
  clearly a key access point and so it was important to ensure that primary care
  networks had this information and were able to use it to support patients.
- Cllr Revah requested further details about the engagement with the deaf community and support for carers to access services. Alice Langley said that both of these were key groups in the engagement process and there had also been contact with various community and voluntary groups to ensure that they were reaching a wide range of people. Measures to meet the needs of these groups would be included in the service specification. Debra Holt added that some key feedback was that the service needed to be flexible because not everyone could reach buildings-based services at particular times.
- Asked by Cllr Clarke whether this service would play a part in early intervention, Alice
  Langley responded that the service was designed to be flexible without rigid criteria so
  the service users may include people presenting for the first time but may also provide
  secondary prevention for people with more acute needs who may otherwise require
  hospital admission. This was why professionals from different services were involved
  in delivering the service.
- Cllr Clarke commented that local HealthWatch would soon have a joint NCL-wide structure and Alice Langley noted that the partnership working between BEH-MHT and C&I NHS Trust was now known as the North London Mental Health Partnership, also reflecting the NCL area.

Cllr Connor concluded by expressing the hope that this approach would be successful and taken up across the NCL area and requested that the Committee be kept updated on progress. (ACTION)

RESOLVED – That the service specification be circulated to the Committee and that the Committee be kept updated on progress of the project.

# 25. WINTER PLANNING & AMBULANCE UPDATE

Elizabeth Ogunoye, Director of System Flow & Resilience, introduced the report on this item noting that it provided an overview of the experience of Winter 2022/23, with challenges including flu/respiratory illness and industrial action. The learning from this review process would contribute towards the winter planning process for 2023/24 which involved a joined-up approach, reflecting work in all areas of health and social care, overseen by a Strategic Board and supported by a partnership all-systems group called the NHS Flow Operations Group.

Elizabeth Ogunoye highlighted the timescales for the Winter 2023/24 planning process set out on page 93 of the agenda pack, the end result of which would be a draft plan produced later in September. She added that the population health strategy in NCL would continue alongside this work with workstreams focused on higher risk groups for ill-health, there would also be proactive management of high-risk patients with long-term conditions and work to increase the vaccination take-up rate.

In terms of ambulance handover times, Elizabeth Ogunoye highlighted the pilot for new handover protocols set out on page 95 of the agenda pack which would be evaluated in readiness for Winter 2023/24.

Elizabeth Ogunoye concluded by setting out the next steps which would include working with local authority partners to plan for capacity and demand, including with a refreshed Better Care Fund (BCF) planning process by October. There was also a joint programme on the sustainability of discharge services across NCL.

Elizabeth Ogunoye then responded to questions from the Committee:

- Cllr Connor asked for further details about the learning from Winter 2022/23, particularly in terms of bed capacity and workforce. Elizabeth Ogunoye said that key learning was around joint working with health and social care on bed capacity and maximising flow, hospital discharge and care packages. Another part was on same day emergency care to avoid overnight stays where possible and maximise bed capacity. Avoiding infection was also a key piece of work including increasing the uptake of vaccination. Improvements in the proactive case management of people with long-term conditions was also part of the planning process. She added that the planning process had included modelling of various scenarios (including covid scenarios) and they were confident that sufficient bed and workforce capacity would be in place to respond.
- Asked by Cllr Atolagbe about the physical space for beds, Elizabeth Ogunoye acknowledged that physical space was always a challenge but that this had been taken into account in the long-term estates planning.
- Cllr Revah raised the issue of discharge from hospital and commented that information about the specific arrangements for discharge was not always shared well with the families which could make the post-discharge period more difficult. Elizabeth Ogunoye responded that the joint piece of work on sustainable discharge aimed to address what could be done better including communication, the flow of information and ensuring that patients were well supported at home. Elizabeth Ogunoye agreed to take these comments back for further consideration. (ACTION)
- Cllr Revah added that she was particularly concerned that the next of kin for patients with dementia were not always consulted about the patient's needs and suggested that this needed to be addressed. (ACTION)
- Asked by Cllr Cohen how well the system was prepared for a future pandemic,
  Elizabeth Ogunoye said that scenario planning had included the worst case of flu and
  covid together and found that, if there was no community bed or virtual ward capacity,
  an additional 23-25 beds would be needed. However, the virtual ward and community
  bed capacity mitigated against this. A scenario worse than what had been modelled
  would create a challenging situation which would likely need to be discussed at

London or national level. Cllr Chakraborty suggested that there could be an overreliance on virtual wards as these only helped to determine whether patients needed hospital treatment and that therefore the worst case scenario would be if a large number of patients actually did need hospital treatment. Elizabeth Ogunoye said that the reliance was not just on virtual ward capacity as there was also a focus on other prevention measures that had previously been mentioned such as proactive case management and vaccination as well as the measures to free up acute beds. Cllr Connor noted that community beds would not be useful in a pandemic scenario as they were often in the same place as other residents.

- Cllr Cohen queried why a pilot was required to improve ambulance handover times.
   Elizabeth Ogunoye explained that this was a pan-London pilot that had resulted from recent learning and the need to reduce handover delays. Cllr Clarke suggested that the JHOSC could speak to the London Ambulance Service directly to understand the impact of the pilot on their service. It was agreed that this would be added to the Committee's work programme. (ACTION) The Committee also requested that the evaluation be provided when it was available. (ACTION)
- Cllr Connor sought clarification that the strategic board included local authority and GP representation and Elizabeth Ogunoye confirmed that this was the case.
- Cllr Connor referred to the single point of access intervention set out on page 94 of the agenda pack and proposed that further details on how this would work in practice could be included in the next report on winter planning. (ACTION)
- Cllr Chakraborty suggested that, after Winter 2023/24, it would be useful to understand
  whether the modelling had been accurate in reflecting what had actually happened. It
  was proposed that this information be provided in the next report on winter planning.
  (ACTION)

RESOLVED – That the evaluation on the ambulance handover pilot be circulated to the Committee when it has been completed.

RESOLVED – That details be provided to the Committee on the information shared with families during the hospital discharge process.

# 26. WORK PROGRAMME

Cllr Connor noted that it had been necessary to move some of the proposed agenda items to different dates and that the next meeting date had been changed to Mon 30<sup>th</sup> Oct. This information was all provided in the work plan on pages 105-107 of the agenda pack.

Cllr Revah said that the March 2022 item meeting on mental health had been successful in the engagement with local community groups and suggested that a similar approach could be taken for a future meeting on a different policy issue. It was agreed that this could be considered as part of the work programme for 2024/25. (ACTION) Cllr Cohen noted that the use of a community venue had been another positive part of this approach.

Cllr Chakraborty proposed a future agenda item on healthcare data and technology, including the balance between the use of data for healthcare analytics and patient privacy/control of their data. This would be added to the work plan as a possible future item. (ACTION)

# 27. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS

- 30<sup>th</sup> October 2023 (10am)
- 29<sup>th</sup> January 2024 (10am)
- 18<sup>th</sup> March 2024 (10am)

# 28. NEW ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS

CHAIR: Councillor Pippa Connor
Signed by Chair
Date